
 

 

SOUTHERN GROVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NOS. 1-10 
 

PORT ST. LUCIE  
REGULAR BOARD MEETING  

AUGUST 7, 2024 
10:30 A.M. 

 
 

Special District Services, Inc. 
The Oaks Center 

2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

www.southerngrovecdd1.org 
www.southerngrovecdd2.org 
www.southerngrovecdd3.org 
www.southerngrovecdd4.org 
www.southerngrovecdd5.org 
www.southerngrovecdd6.org 
www.southerngrovecdd7.org 
www.southerngrovecdd8.org 
www.southerngrovecdd9.org 
www.southerngrovecdd10.org 

 
561.630.4922 Telephone 
877.SDS.4922 Toll Free 
561.630.4923 Facsimile   

http://www.southerngrovecdd1.org/
http://www.southerngrovecdd2.org/
http://www.southerngrovecdd3.org/
http://www.southerngrovecdd4.org/
http://www.southerngrovecdd5.org/


AGENDA 
SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO.’s 1-10 

Tradition Town Hall  
10799 SW Civic Lane 

OR 
Join Zoom Meeting: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3341025011?omn=84063385630  
Meeting ID: 334 102 5011 
Dial In at: 1 929 436 2866  
Port St. Lucie, FL  34987 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
August 7th, 2024 

10:30 a.m. 
 

A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication……………………………………………………………………………....Page 1 

C. Establish Quorum 

D. Appointments to Vacant Board Seats 

E. Seat New Boards Members /Administer Oath of Office  

F. Additions or Deletions 

G. Comments from the Public Not on the Agenda  

H. Consent Items 

1. Approval of June 5, 2024, Regular Board Meeting Minutes…………………….……….......Page 2 

2. Approve WA #19-144-219; Project Everest………………………………………………….Page 6 

3. Approve and Ratify PO #SG-2024-07; Treasure Coast Wildlife Trappers Agreement………Page 8 

4. Approve and Ratify As-Built Resubmittal for Utility Easement……………………………...Page 12 

5. Approve and Ratify 2024 Bond Requisition (No. 4); District No. 5 Special Assessment Bonds, 
Series 2024 (Community Infrastructure) ………..……………………………………………Page 17 

6. Approve and Ratify 2024 Bond Requisition (No. 5); District No. 5 Special Assessment Bonds, 
Series 2024 (Community Infrastructure) ………..……………………………………………Page 23 

7. Approve and Ratify 2024 Bond Requisition (No. 6); District No. 5 Special Assessment Bonds, 
Series 2024 (Community Infrastructure).………..……………………………………………Page 29 

I. Old Business 

J. New Business 

1. Consider SFWMD Compliance Notice – Heron Preserve……………………………………Page 35 

2. Consider Resolution No. 2024-19; Adopting Fiscal Year 2024/2025 Meeting Schedule……Page 45 

3. Consider Resolution No. 2024-21; Adopting Annual Performance Measures and Standards 
Reporting……………………………………………………………………………………...Page 47   

4. Consider Resolution No. 2024-23; Ratifying Resetting of Budget Hearing for Fiscal Year 
2024/2025……………………………………………………………………………………..Page 50 

K. Administrative Matters 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3341025011?omn=84063385630


1. Manager’s Report 

2. Attorney’s Report 

3. Engineer’s Report 

4. Financial Report (Under Separate Cover)…………………………………………………….Page 52 

5. Founder’s Report 

L. Board Member Comments 

M. Adjourn  



SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NOS. 1-10 
FISCAL YEAR 2023/2024 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING SCHEDULE 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Southern Grove Community Development District Nos. 1-10 
(“Districts”) will conduct Regular Board Meetings of the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) for the 
purpose of conducting the business of the Districts that may properly come before the Board.  The 
following meetings will be held at 10:30 a.m. at Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW Civic Lane, 
Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987 on the following dates: 

*October 4, 2023*
November 1, 2023
December 6, 2023
*January 3, 2024*
February 7, 2024

March 6, 2024 
*April 3, 2024*

May 1, 2024
June 5, 2024

*July 3, 2024*
August 7, 2024

September 4, 2024 

*Irrigation Rate Committee Meeting – 9:00 a.m.
Southern Grove CDD Meeting – 10:30 a.m.

Tradition CDD Meeting – 11:00 a.m. 

*An Irrigation Committee Meeting will take place at 9:00 a.m. at Tradition Town Hall located at
10799 SW Civic Lane, Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987 on the above dates, as indicated.*

The meetings are open to the public and will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of Florida 
law for community development districts.  Meetings may be continued to a date, time and place to be 
specified on the record.  A copy of the agenda for the meetings may be obtained from the Districts’ 
websites or at the offices of the District Manager, Special District Services, Inc., 10807 SW Tradition 
Square, Port St. Lucie, Florida. 

There may be occasions when one or more Supervisors will participate by telephone; therefore, a 
speaker telephone may be present at the meeting location so that one or more Supervisors may attend 
the meeting and be fully informed of the discussions taking place.  

Any person requiring special accommodations at these meetings because of a disability or physical 
impairment should contact the District Office at 772-345-5119 and/or toll free at 1-877-737-4922 at 
least five calendar days prior to the meeting.  If you are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the 
Florida Relay Service at 1-800-955-8770, who can aid you in contacting the District Office. 

Each person who decides to appeal any action taken at a meeting is advised that they will need a record 
of the proceedings and that accordingly, the person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the 
proceedings is made, including the testimony and evidence upon which such appeal is to be based. 

Meetings may be cancelled from time to time without advertised notice. 

SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NOS. 1-10 

www.southerngrovecdd1.org 

PUBLISH:  ST. LUCIE NEWS TRIBUNE    09/25/23 1



SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO.’S 1-10 
Tradition Town Hall  
10799 SW Civic Lane 

OR 
Join Zoom Meeting: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3341025011?omn=89004571424 
Meeting ID: 334 102 5011 
Dial In at: 1 929 436 2866  
Port St. Lucie, FL  34987 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
June 5th, 2024 

10:30 a.m. 
        
 

A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The Regular Board Meeting of the Southern Grove Community Development District No’s. 1-10 of  
June 5, 2024, was called to order at 10:31 a.m. in the Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW Civic 
Lane, Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987. 
 
B. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Proof of publication was presented that showed notice of the Regular Board Meeting had been 
published in the St. Lucie News Tribune on September 25th, 2023, as legally required.  
 
C. ESTABLISH A QUORUM 
 
It was determined that the attendance of the following Supervisors constituted a quorum in District 
Nos. 1,2,9, and it was in order to proceed with the meeting. No quorums in 3-8, and 10. 
 
CDD #’s 1-10   
Chairman/ Supervisor Eric Sexauer: #1,2,3,5,9  Present  
Supervisor  Ricardo Mojica: #1,2,3,4,6,9  Absent 
Supervisor / Vice Chair Steven Dassa: #1,2,3,5,9 Absent 
Supervisor William Pittsley: #1,2,5,9  Present 
Supervisor / Vice Chair David Graham: #3,4,5,6,7,8,10 Present 
Supervisor Stephen Okiye: #4,7,8,10  Absent 
Supervisor Tara Toto: #1,2,9 Present 
Chairman/Supervisor  Jennifer Davis: #3,4,6,7,8,10   Present (via Zoom) 
Supervisor Elijah Wooten: #7,8,10 Absent 
Supervisor Jeff Greenwalt : #7,8,10   Present (via Zoom) 

 
Staff members in attendance were:  
 
District Manager Frank Sakuma Special District Services, Inc. 
Assistant District Manager Jesse Wargo Special District Services, Inc. 
District Manager Stephanie Brown Special District Services, Inc. 
District Manager Andrew Karmeris Special District Services, Inc. 
Intern Jackson Wodraska Special District Services, Inc. 

2

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3341025011?omn=89004571424
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3341025011?omn=89004571424


District Engineer Stef Matthes Culpepper and Terpening 
District Counsel  Susan Garrett  Torcivia, Donlon, Goddeau & 

Rubin, P.A. 
 
Also present was: (See attached sign-in sheet) 
 
D. APPOINTMENTS TO VACANT BOARD SEATS 
 
There were no appointments. 
 
E. SEAT NEW BOARD MEMBERS/ADMINISTER OATH OF OFFICE 
 
There were no new Board members seated. 
 
F. ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO AGENDA 
 

1. (J-3) Addition to New Business: Authorization of Chair to Execute Plats: SG8 & SG11 
 
A Motion was made by Mr. Sexauer, seconded by Mr. Pittsley, and passed unanimously to Approve 
the agenda as amended. 
 
G. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC FOR DISTRICT ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 
There were no comments from the public. 
 
H. CONSENT ITEMS 

1. Approval of May 1, 2024, Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
 

2. Approve and Ratify 2024 Bond Requisition (No. 1); District No. 5 Special Assessment 
Bonds, Series 2024 (Community Infrastructure)  

                                                                                                                                 
3. Approve and Ratify 2024 Bond Requisition (No. 2); District No. 5 Special Assessment 

Bonds, Series 2024 (Community Infrastructure) 
 
4. Approve and Ratify 2024 Bond Requisition (No. 3); District No. 5 Special Assessment 

Bonds, Series 2024 (Community Infrastructure) 
 
5. Approve and Ratify 2020 Bond Requisition (No. 10); District No. 5 Special Assessment 

Bonds, Series 2022-2 (Community Infrastructure) 
 
6. Approve and Ratify 2020 Bond Requisition (No. 12); District No. 5 Special Assessment 

Bonds, Series 2022-2 (Community Infrastructure) 
 
7. Approve and Ratify 2022 Bond Requisition (No. 20); District No. 5 Special Assessment 

Bonds, Series 2022-1 (Community Infrastructure) 
 
8. Approve and Ratify 2022 Bond Requisition (No. 21); District No. 5 Special Assessment 

Bonds, Series 2022-1 (Community Infrastructure) 
 

3



A Motion was made by CDD No. 1 Mr. Sexauer, seconded by Mr. Pittsley, and passed unanimously 
by CDD No.1 to Approve all item(s) under Consent.  

 
I. OLD BUSINESS 
 
There were no matters of old business to come before the Board. 
 
J.        NEW BUSINESS 
 

1. Resolution No. 2024-11; Adopting Proposed Budget FY 24/25 and Setting a Public 
Hearing (budget under separate cover). 
 

Resolution No. 2024-11 was presented, entitled: 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
NO.’S 1-10 APPROVING THE DISTRICT'S PROPOSED BUDGET 
FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024/2025; SETTING A PUBLIC HEARING 
THERE ON PURSUANT TO FLORIDA LAW; DIRECTING STAFF 
TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE PROPOSED BUDGET TO THE 
LOCAL GENERAL-PURPOSE GOVERNMENT AND PROVIDING 
FOR NOTICE OF SAID HEARING PUSUANT TO LAW. 

 
A Motion was made by CDD No. 1 Mr. Sexauer, seconded by Mr. Pittsley, and passed unanimously 
by CDD No.1 to Adopt Resolution No. 2024-11 Proposed Budget FY 24/25 and Setting a Public 
Hearing for August 7, 2024, at 10:30am.  
 

2. Approving Agreement for Legal Services 
 
A Motion was made by CDD No. 1 Mr. Sexauer, seconded by Mr. Pittsley, and passed unanimously 
by CDD No.1 to Approve the agreement for legal services.  
 

3. Authorizing Chair to Execute Plats: SG8 & SG11 
 
A Motion was made by CDD No. 1 Mr. Sexauer, seconded by Mr. Pittsley, and passed unanimously 
by CDD No.1 to authorize the Chair to execute plats SG8 & SG11, subject to final review and approval 
by legal counsel and district engineering.  
 
K.     ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
 

1. Manager’s Report 
 
Mr. Sakuma reminded the Board that qualifying week for candidates is 6/10/24-6/14/24, beginning and 
ending at noon. 
 

2. Attorney’s Report 
 
There was no Attorney’s report at this time. 
 

3. Engineer’s Report 

4



 
There was no Engineer’s report at this time.  
 

4. Financial Report 
 
Mr. Sakuma notified the Board that the financial report was provided, and Mr. Karmeris was present 
to answer any questions. There were no questions from the Board. 

 
5. Founder’s Report  

 
There was no Founder’s Report. 
 
L. BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
There were no Board comments. 
 
M. ADJORNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Boards, Mr. Sexauer made a motion to adjourn. 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:41a.m. 
 
_________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary   Chair/Vice-Chair 
 
_________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Print Signature    Print Signature  

5



 

 

Southern Grove Community Development District 
BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

Board Meeting Date: August 7,2024 
 

 
Subject:   SG – Project Everest  
 Work Authorization No.  WA-19-144-219 
 C&T Project No. 19-144.SG7.004.0424.W 
  
Background: 

On April 9 2023, the Southern Grove CDD Engineer received an application for a 
Work Authorization for Project Everest.  Project Everest is a 192.5-acre 
commercial development located Northeast of the intersection of SW Anthony F 
Sansone Sr Blvd and Hegner Drive. 
 

 
 
Recommended Action: 

Approve proposed project connecting to the Southern Grove Master Stormwater 
System under the following conditions: 

1. Responding to the outstanding Request for Additional Information to the 
CDD Engineer’s satisfaction. 

 
Location:  Southern Grove Community Development District CDD.07  

 
Within Tradition Irrigation Service Area? Yes  

 
Fiscal Information:   This project does not include infrastructure dedicated to the CDD.  It is not 

expected to impact the CDD Stormwater System operational budget. 
 
Grant Related?  No  
Additional Comments: None 
 
Board Action: 
Moved by: Seconded by:  Action Taken: 
 
 
 
 
Item Prepared by: Stefan K. Matthes, PE         July 25, 2024  

6



© 2024 Microsoft Corporation © 2024 Maxar ©CNES (2024) Distribution Airbus DS 

●  
●  ●

2980 SOUTH 25th STREET FORT PIERCE, FLORIDA 34981
  www.ct-eng.comFAX 772-464-9497PHONE 772-464-3537

STATE OF FLORIDA BOARD OF PROFESSIONAL
ENGINEERS AUTHORIZATION NO. 4286

C
:\
U
se

rs
\g

go
m
ez

\D
es

kt
op

\C
D
D
\W

or
k 

Au
th

or
iz

at
io
ns

\L
oc

at
io
n 

M
ap

.d
w
g

  
7/

24
/2

02
4 

11
:3
2:
10

 A
M

EXHIBIT
LOCATION MAP

SG - Project Everest
Parcel No. 4326-603-0004-000-2

7

AutoCAD SHX Text
 JOB NO: 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 DRAWN BY: 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 SCALE: 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 DATE: 

AutoCAD SHX Text
   7/24/2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
19-144.SG7.004.0424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 1000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
       GGOMEZGGOMEZ

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
Work Authorization # : 19-144-219 Project # : 19-144.SG7.004.0424 

ggomez
Text Box
SG - Project EverestWA # : 19-144-219PROJECT # : 19-144-SG7.004.0424 

ggomez
Line



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



 

 

The undersigned, an authorized representative of the Consulting Engineer to the Issuer, 
hereby certifies that this disbursement is for a Cost of the 2024 CI Project and is consistent with:  
(i) the applicable acquisition or construction contract; (ii) the plans and specifications for the 
portion of the 2024 CI Project with respect to which such disbursement is being made; and (iii) 
the Engineer’s Report as supplemented and amended through the date hereof. 

The undersigned further certifies that (a) the improvements to be acquired with this 
disbursement will be (1) owned by the Issuer or another governmental entity and located on public 
property or within public rights of way or easements and (2) accessible by the general public and/or 
part of a public water management system; (b) the purchase price to be paid by the Issuer for the 
improvements to be acquired with this disbursement is no more than the lesser of (i) the fair market 
value of such improvements and (ii) the actual cost of construction of such improvements; (c) the 
plans and specifications for the improvements have been approved by all regulatory bodies 
required to approve them or such approval can reasonably be expected to be obtained; (d) all 
currently required approvals and permits for the acquisition, construction, reconstruction, 
installation and equipping of the portion of the 2024 CI Project for which disbursement is made 
have been obtained from all applicable regulatory bodies; and (e) subject to permitted retainage 
under the applicable contracts, the seller has paid all contractors, subcontractors, and materialmen 
that have provided services or materials in connection with the portions of the 2024 CI Project for 
which disbursement is made hereby, if acquisition or reimbursement is being made pursuant to an 
agreement.  

[CONSULTING ENGINEER] 
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  
Date:  

 

#245325055_v1 228557.00001 

Butch Terpening, P.E.
District Engineer
June 7, 2024

18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



  
June 14, 2024

  
Frank Sakuma
Southern Grove Community Development District 5
108807 SW Tradition Square
Port St Lucie, FL 34987

Delivered via email

  
Subject: Heron Preserve

First Notice of Noncompliance 
Environmental Resource Permit (ERP) No. 56-100426-P 
St. Lucie County

  
Dear Mr. Sakuma:

This letter is to provide notification that an inspection and file review of the above referenced
project was conducted by South Florida Water Management District (District) staff on June 13,
2024. This inspection and file review indicates that the project is not in compliance with the
conditions of the above referenced ERP. Specifically, items that need to be addressed include the
following:

1. According to Special Condition 7 of the subject permit, lake side slopes shall be no steeper than
4:1 (horizontal:vertical) to a depth of two feet below the control elevation. Side slopes shall be
nurtured or planted from 2 feet below to 1 foot above control elevation to insure vegetative growth
and 2:1 (horizontal:vertical) to bottom of slope.  The side slope is severly eroded.  Please make
the necessary repairs. 

The District requests correction of noncompliance item(s) noted above within 30 days of the date
of this letter. 

If you have any questions or require additional assistance, please contact me at (863) 462-5260,
x3008 or via email at gboiscl@sfwmd.gov.
  
Sincerely,

Guy Boisclair
Section Leader, Environmental Resource Bureau
 
  
eEnclosures: Lake Photo (Heron Preserve Photo.pdf) 

Location Map (240219-42484_Exhibit1.0_LocMap_20240522.pdf) 
Notice of Rights (Notice of Rights)

  

35

https://api.sfwmd.gov/v1/service/cms/documents/0900eeea965fb103/content
https://api.sfwmd.gov/v1/service/cms/documents/0900eeea964f753f/content
https://api.sfwmd.gov/v1/service/cms/documents/versions/1.0/content?folderName=ePermitting/Reg%20Standard%20Documents&fileName=exb_nor.pdf


c: Stef Matthes, P.E. (E-Mail)
Butch Terpening, P.E. (E-Mail)

This document is filed in the ePermitting system under Permit Number 56-100426-P  via the
Application/Permit Section on the Records Search home page

 
 

 

Page 2

  36



                                    SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT 
 
 

SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5,   Permit No.:   56-100426-P 
           Application No.:   240219-42484 

Petitioner, 
 
 v. 
 
 
SOUTH FLORIDA WATER  
MANAGEMENT DISTRICT  
 

Respondent. 
_______________________________________/ 
 

PETITION FOR FORMAL ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
 
 COMES NOW, Petitioner, SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NO. 5 (“Southern Grove” or “CDD”), and pursuant to Rule 28-106.201, Florida 

Administrative Code, and Sections 120.569 and 120.57, Florida Statutes, requests a formal 

administrative proceeding regarding the above-referenced permit modification and in support 

thereof states as follows: 

Preliminary Statement 

 1. This Petition concerns the May 23, 2024 Modification of Environmental Resource 

Permit 56-100426-P. The original Environmental Resource Permit, 56-100426-P, will be referred 

to as the “ERP”. The modification of the permit 56-100426-P will be referred to as the 

“Modification”.   The ERP authorized construction of a storm water management system (“SWM”) 

serving 67.49 acres of a residential development in St. Lucie County. The residential development 

is known as Heron Preserve at Tradition (“Heron Preserve”).   

 2.  The May 23, 2024 Modification transferred the ERP from  the original permittee, 

Pulte Home Company, LLC (“Pulte”) to the perpetual operating entities, one of which is Southern 

RECEIVED 
DISTRICT CLERK’S OFFICE 

SOUTH FLORIDA  
WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT 

 

3:45 pm Jun 21, 2024

37



2 
 

Grove1. The ERP and the Modification contemplated that Southern Grove would eventually accept 

the operation and maintenance responsibility for the stormwater lakes, interconnecting pipes, and 

control structures.  The HOA would operate and maintain the remaining aspects of the SWM.  

 3. Southern Grove challenges the Modification because Pulte constructed the 

stormwater lakes not in compliance with General Condition No. 3 and Special Condition No. 7 of 

the ERP and installed defective interconnects on stormwater conveyance piping inconsistent with 

Pulte’s design plans that formed the basis for the South Florida Water Management District’s 

(“SFWMD”) issuance of the ERP.  

 4. As required by the SFWMD, Pulte’s civil engineer, Kinan F. Husainy, P.E., Florida 

license no.: 75481, signed, sealed, and submitted to the SFWMD an “As-Built Certification” 

certifying that the stormwater management system was, to the best of his knowledge, “completed 

in substantial conformance with the plans and specifications and conditions permitted by the 

[SFWMD].”   

 5. Mr. Husainy’s As-Built Certification was submitted to the SFWMD as required for 

the Modification.  

 6. The Modification would transfer the ERP to the operating entities thereby allowing 

Pulte to absolve itself of further regulatory obligations for the SWM.   

 7. Until the recent drought conditions in the area, the stormwater lakes were full of 

water completely covering the lake side slopes and the conveyance piping.  In fact, Southern Grove 

relied on Pulte’s engineer’s As- Built Certification in its acquiescence to become one of the 

permittees for the perpetual operation of the stormwater system.  

 8. In early June 2024, the stormwater lakes began to recede due, in part, to lack of 

 
1 The other operating entity as identified on the Modification is Heron Preserve at Tradition Home Owners 
Association, Inc. (the “HOA”).  At the time of the filing of this Petition, the HOA is still controlled by Pulte. 

38



3 
 

rainfall. The recession of the lake elevations exposed eroded lake side slopes and piping defects, 

both constructed by Pulte as part of the construction phase of the ERP.   

 9. Prior to the lowered lake levels, Southern Grove had no practical way of observing 

or knowing of the latent defects of the lakes and the stormwater conveyance piping.   

 10. On June 14, 2024, the SFWMD issued a First Notice of Noncompliance to Southern 

Grove based on the SFWMD’s June 13, 2024 inspection of the stormwater lakes and conclusion 

that the lake side slopes were not in compliance with the ERP (the “Notice”). The Notice requires 

that Southern Grove correct the non-compliance within thirty (30) days of June 14, 2024.   

Timeliness of the Filing of this Petition 

 11. Equitable tolling is a defense to the time limitation in which a party may file a 

petition challenging agency action. Rule 28-106.111(4), Fla. Admin. Code.  Here, Southern Grove 

raises equitable tolling as a defense to the 21 day time period that appears to have begun on May 

24, 2024 and closed on June 13, 2024.   

 12. Generally, equitable tolling has been applied when the plaintiff, or in this case the 

petitioner, has been misled or lulled into inaction, has in some extraordinary way been prevented 

from asserting his rights, or has timely asserted his rights mistakenly in the wrong forum. Machules 

v. Department of Administration, 523 So.2d 1132, 1134 (Fla.1988) (citations omitted).  

 13. Pulte’s signed and sealed As-Built Certification misled Southern Grove (and the 

SFWMD) as to the actual defective construction of the lake side slopes and interconnects on the 

conveyance piping.  

 14. The high water levels in the lakes concealed these defects to Pulte’s advantage so 

that the responsibility for further compliance with SFWMD rules and permit conditions fell to a 

third party after the Modification.   

39



4 
 

 15. When the lake levels receded, side slop conditions were revealed that may not have 

been otherwise observed anytime in the near future.  

 16. The SFWMD’s June 13, 2024  inspection was performed on the same day as the 21 

day challenge period closed under Rule 28-106.111. The Notice is dated one day after the 

challenge period closed. Southern Grove requests that the SFWMD waive the 21 day period under 

the Rule and accept this Petition as timely based on equitable tolling for the ERP Modification as 

discussed above.   

 17. This Petition is timely with respect to the SFWMD’s June 14, 2024 First Notice of 

Noncompliance.  

Agency Action Being Contested 

 18. The May 22, 2024 Modification of ERP 56-100426-P and the June 14, 2024 First 

Notice of Non-Compliance.  

Parties 

 19. The Petitioner, Southern Grove #5, is organized and exists under Chapter 190, 

Florida Statutes.  It is one of ten Southern Grove Community Development Districts within the 

Southern Grove Development of Regional Impact (“DRI”).   

 20. The SFWMD is an executive agency of the State of Florida charged with the 

responsibility of reviewing and taking agency action on certain types of ERPS under part IV of 

Chapter 373, Florida Statutes. 

Petitioner’s Substantial Interests 

 21. Southern Grove’s substantial interests in this Petition are founded on its eventual 

responsibilities and obligations for the perpetual operation and maintenance of certain components 

of the Heron Preserve stormwater management system as permitted by the ERP, required by the 

40



5 
 

Modification, and founded also on the required corrective actions imposed by the SFWMD’s First 

Notice of Noncompliance. 

Notice of the SFWMD’s Decision 

 22. The Notice of Modification indicates it was issued to an agent for Southern Grove 

on or about May 23, 2024.  The undersigned has not been able to confirm actual service as 

indicated.  23. Based on the undersigned’s information and belief, Southern Grove’s 

District Manager at Special District Services, Inc., received the SFWMD’s First Notice of 

Noncompliance on or about June 17, 2024.  

Ultimate Facts Alleged and Specific Facts Warranting Reversal of the SFWMD’s Decision, 
i.e., warranting reversal of the permit modification 

 
 24. The SWM was not constructed as designed and subsequently permitted.  

 25. Southern Grove should not be held responsible to make the corrections to the 

stormwater system due to the fact that the Modification, that transfers the ERP from Pulte to the 

operating entities, was not based on actual conditions, but instead was based on concealed 

defective conditions.    

 26. To the extent that reasonable assurances for issuance of the ERP and the 

Modification were based on the SWM design plans and Pulte’s licensed engineer’s As-Built 

Certification that the SWM system was constructed as designed, the ERP and the Modification are 

flawed.   

Disputed Issues of Material Fact 

 27. Southern Grove disputes: 

 a)  whether the Heron Preserve stormwater management system was completed in 

substantial compliance with the plans, specification, and conditions permitted by the SFWMD; 

 b)  whether Pulte provided reasonable assurances that the constructed SWM would not 

41



6 
 

cause adverse water quality impacts, erosion and/or secondary and cumulative impacts to the 

surrounding property; 

 c)  whether the Heron Preserve stormwater management system, as constructed by 

Pulte, is contrary to the public interest as determined by Rule 62-330.302, Fla. Admin. Code, 

Section 373.414, Florida Statutes, Applicant’s Handbook, Volume I, Parts IV (Erosion & Sediment 

Control) and V (Operation and Maintenance – Specific Requirements), Applicants Handbook 

Volume II, Parts III (Stormwater Quantity and Flood Control), IV (Stormwater Quality), and V 

(Water Management System Design & Construction Criteria);  

 d)   whether Pulte met the conditions for issuance of the ERP; 

 e)  whether the ERP should have been modified and transferred to Southern Grove as 

a perpetual operation and maintenance entity; and 

 f)  whether Southern Grove should be responsible for correcting Pulte’s non-

compliant stormwater management system.  

Statutes and Rules Requiring Reversal of Permit Modification 

 28. The following Statutes and Rules require reversal of the Modification and treasfer 

of the ERP to Southern Grove as a perpetual operating entity: 

 a)   Sections 373.414 and 416 Florida Statutes; Sections 120.569 and 57, Florida 

Statutes; 

 b) Rules 62-330.350, 401, 301 and 302, Florida Administrative Code;  

 c) Applicant’s Handbook, Volume I, Parts IV (Erosion & Sediment Control) and V 

(Operation and Maintenance – Specific Requirements); 

 d) Applicants Handbook Volume II, Parts III (Stormwater Quantity and Flood 

Control); IV (Stormwater Quality); and V (Water Management System Design & Construction 

42



7 
 

Criteria).  

Relief Sought by Petitioner 

 29. Petitioner, Southern Grove #5 requests that this matter be referred to the Florida 

Division of Administrative Hearings for appointment of an Administrative Law Judge to hear this 

matter and thereafter:  

 a) Reverse the SFWMD’s approval of Pulte’s  construction certification for the ERP; 

 b) Reverse of the transfer of the ERP via the Modification as to Southern Grove;  

 c) That the SFWMD withdraw its First Notice of Noncompliance directed to the Southern 

Grove;  

 d) Require Pulte to correct any and all deficiencies of its SWM before the SFWMD 

approves any future transfer of the ERP to the operation and maintenance entities; 

 e)  such other relief as deemed appropriate. 

       Respectfully submitted, 

TORCIVIA, DONLON, GODDEAU & 
RUBIN, P.A. 

 

/s/ Ruth A. Holmes          
Ruth A. Holmes, Esquire 
Florida Bar No.:  118915 
Susan Garrett, Esquire 
Florida Bar No.:  1012318_______ 
Phone: (561) 686-8700 Fax: (561) 686-8764 
Primary: rholmes@torcivialaw.com  
Secondary: pleadings@torcivialaw.com  
701 Northpoint Parkway, Suite 209 
West Palm Beach, FL  33407 
 
Attorneys for Southern Grove Community 
Development District #5 
 

 

43



8 
 

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing was filed by email 
with the Office of the District Clerk for the South Florida Water Management District at 
clerk@sfwmd.gov, and courtesy copies served by email on the 21st day of June 2024 to the 
following: 
 
 
Garrett Dinsmore 
Director of Land Development 
Pulte Home Company, LLC 
1475 Centerpark Blvd., Ste 140 
West Palm Beach, FL  33401 
garrett.dinsmore@pulte.com 
 

Dana Shelly 
Heron Preserve at Tradition Homeowners Association, Inc. 
500 S. Australian Ave., Ste. 700 
West Palm Beach, FL  33401 
heron.preserve.hoa@gmail.com 

 

 

44



RESOLUTION 2024-19 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO’S. 1-10 ADOPTING THE ANNUAL 
MEETING SCHEDULE FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025 

WHEREAS, the Southern Grove Community Development District No’s. 1-10 (the 
“Districts”), are a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to 
Chapter 190, Florida Statues, being situated entirely within the St. Lucie County, Florida; and 

WHEREAS, the Districts are required by Florida law to prepare an annual schedule of 
their regular public meetings which designates the date, time and location of the District’s 
meetings; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has proposed the Fiscal Year 2024-2025 annual meeting schedule 
as attached in Exhibit A; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD 
OF SUPERVISORS OF SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO’S. 1-10: 

1. The Fiscal Year 2024-2025 annual public meeting schedule attached hereto and
incorporated by reference herein as Exhibit A in hereby approved and will be published in 
accordance with the requirements of Florida law. 

2. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption.

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 7th DAY OF AUGUST, 2024. 

ATTEST: SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DISTRICT NOS. 1,2,3,5,9 

Secretary (B. Frank Sakuma, Jr.) Chairperson (Eric Sexauer) 

ATTEST: SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DISTRICT NOS. 4,6,7,8,10 

Secretary (B. Frank Sakuma, Jr.) Chairperson (Jennifer Davis) 

45



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS MEETING DATES 
SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NOS. 1-10 

FISCAL YEAR 2024/2025 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Southern Grove Community Development District Nos. 
1-10 (“Districts”) will conduct Regular Board Meetings of the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) for 
the purpose of conducting the business of the Districts that may properly come before the Board.  
The following meetings will be held at 10:30 a.m. at Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW 
Civic Lane, Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987 on the following dates: 

 
*October 2, 2024* 
November 6, 2024 
December 4, 2024 
*January 8, 2025* 
February 5, 2025 

March 5, 2025 
*April 2, 2025* 

May 7, 2025 
June 4, 2025 

*July 2, 2025* 
August 6, 2025 

September 3, 2025 

 
 

*Irrigation Rate Committee Meeting - 9:00am 
Southern Grove CDD Meeting - 10:30am 

Tradition CDD Meeting - 11:00am 
 
 
*An Irrigation Committee Meeting will take place at 9:00 a.m. at Tradition Town Hall located at 
10799 SW Civic Lane, Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987 on the above dates, as indicated.* 
 

 

46



RESOLUTION 2024-21 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE SOUTHERN GROVE  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NOS. 1-10 ADOPTING GOALS, 
OBJECTIVES, AND PERFORMANCE MEASURES AND STANDARDS; PROVIDING 
A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Southern Grove Community Development District Nos. 1-10 (the 

“District”) is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 
190, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, effective July 1, 2024, the Florida Legislature adopted House Bill 7013, codified 
as Chapter 2024-136, Laws of Florida (“HB 7013”) and creating Section 189.0694, Florida 
Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to HB 7013 and Section 189.0694, Florida Statutes, beginning 
October 1, 2024, the Districts shall establish goals and objectives for the Districts and create 
performance measures and standards to evaluate the District’s achievement of those goals and 
objectives; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District Manager has prepared the attached goals, objectives, and 
performance measures and standards and presented them to the Board of the Districts; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (“Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the Districts to adopt by resolution the attached goals, objectives and performance measures 
and standards. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NOS 1-10: 

  
 SECTION 1. The recitals so stated are true and correct and by this reference are 
incorporated into and form a material part of this Resolution. 
 

SECTION 2. The District Board of Supervisors hereby adopts the goals, objectives and 
performance measures and standards as provided in Exhibit A. The District Manager shall take 
all actions to comply with Section 189.0694, Florida Statutes, and shall prepare an annual report 
regarding the District’s success or failure in achieving the adopted goals and objectives for 
consideration by the Board of the Districts.  
 
 SECTION 3.   If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 4. This resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 
effect unless rescinded or repealed. 

47



 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of August, 2024.  
 
 
ATTEST:     SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NOS. 1,2,3,5,9 
 
 
 
             
Secretary (B. Frank Sakuma, Jr.)  Chair, Board of Supervisors (Eric Sexauer) 
 
 
ATTEST:     SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NOS. 4,6,7,8,10 
 
 
 
             
Secretary (B. Frank Sakuma, Jr.)  Chair, Board of Supervisors (Jennifer Davis) 
 
 
 
 
 
Exhibit A: Performance Measures/Standards and Annual Reporting 
 
 
 
 
  

48



Exhibit A 
 
Program/Activity:   District Administration 
Goal:    Remain compliant with Florida Law for all district meetings 
Objectives:    

• Notice all District regular, special, and public hearing meetings 
• Conduct all post-meeting activities  
• District records retained in compliance with Florida Sunshine Laws 

Performance Measures: 
• All Meetings publicly noticed as required (yes/no) 
• Meeting minutes and post-meeting action completed (yes/no) 
• District records retained as required by law (yes/no) 

  
    
Program/Activity:   District Finance 
Goal:    Remain Compliant with Florida Law for all district financing activities 
Objectives:     

• District adopted fiscal year budget 
• District amended budget at end of fiscal year 
• Process all District finance accounts receivable and payable 
• Process all District bond related financing activities 
• Support District annual financial audit activities 

Performance Measures: 
• District adopted fiscal year budget (yes/no) 
• District amended budget at end of fiscal year (yes/no) 
• District accounts receivable/payable processed for the year (yes/no) 
• Bond requisitions/reporting/continuing disclosures processed (yes/no) 
• “No findings” for annual financial audit (yes/no) 

o If “yes” explain 
 
Program/Activity:   District Operations 
Goal:    Insure, Operate and Maintain District owned Infrastructure & assets 
Objectives:     

• Annual renewal of District insurance policy(s) 
• Contracted Services for District operations in effect 
• Capital Replacement Plan in effect 
• Compliance with all required permits 

Performance Measures: 
• District insurance renewed and in force (yes/no) 
• Contracted Services in force for all District operations (yes/no) 
• Capital Replacement Plan in place (yes/no) 
• Permits in compliance (yes/no) 

49



RESOLUTION 2024-23 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE SOUTHERN GROVE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NOS. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, & 10 
AMENDING RESOLUTION 2024-11 TO REVISE THE TIME AND LOCATION OF THE 
PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER THE FISCAL YEAR 2024/2025 FINAL BUDGET 
AND ASSESSMENTS; PROVIDING FOR NOTICE OF SAID HEARING PURSUANT TO 
LAW; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, Southern Grove Community District Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, & 10 (the 
“Districts”) are local units of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to the 
Chapter 190, Laws of Florida for the purpose of planning, financing, constructing, operating 
and/or maintaining certain infrastructure improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on June 5, 2024, at a duly noticed public meeting, each Districts Board of 
Supervisors (“Board”) adopted Resolution 2024-11, approving the proposed budget for Fiscal 
Year 2024/2025 (the “Proposed Budget”) and setting a public hearing on the Proposed Budget 
for August 7, 2024 at 10:30 a.m., at Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW Civic Lane, Port St. 
Lucie, Florida 34987; and 
 

WHEREAS, to ensure proper notice, the Board of each district desires to reschedule the 
public hearing time to September 4, 2024, at 10:30 a.m., at the Tradition Town Hall located at 
10799 SW Civic Lane, Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987. 

  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NOS. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 
7, 8, 9, & 10: 

 
 SECTION 1. APPROVAL OF PUBLIC HEARING LOCATION CHANGE. Resolution 2024-11 
is hereby amended to reflect that the public hearing as declared in Resolution 2024-11 is reset 
to take place on September 4, 2024, at 10:30 a.m., at Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW 
Civic Lane, Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987.   
 

SECTION 2. RESOLUTION 2024-11 OTHERWISE REMAINS IN FULL FORCE AND 
EFFECT. Except as otherwise provided herein, all of the provisions of Resolution 2024-11 
continue in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY. The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more 
provisions of this Resolution shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining 
portions of this Resolution, or any part thereof. 
 
 SECTION 4. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and 
adoption by the Board. 

50



 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of August, 2024. 
 
ATTEST:      SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
       DISTRICT NOS. 1,2,3,5,9 
 
 
             
Secretary (B. Frank Sakuma, Jr.)   Chairperson (Eric Sexauer) 
 
 
 
ATTEST:      SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 
       DISTRICT NOS. 4,6,7,8,10 
 
 
             
Secretary (B. Frank Sakuma, Jr.)   Chairperson (Jennifer Davis) 
 

51



Financial Report  
(Under Separate Cover) 

52


	Cover Page 
	Agenda 
	Proof of Publication 
	Minutes 6.5.24
	WA #19-144-219
	PO #SG-2024-07; Treasure Coast Wildlife Trappers Agreement 
	Utility Easement 
	Bond Req No. 4; Series 2024
	Bond Req No. 5; Series 2024
	Bond Req No. 6; Series 2024
	SFWMD Compliance Notice - Heron Preserve
	Res No. 2024-19; Adopting FY: 24/25 Meeting Schedule 
	Res No. 2024-21; Adopting Annual Performance Measures & Standards Reporting 
	Res No. 2024-23; Ratifying Resetting of Budget Hearing for FY: 24/25
	Financial Report (Under Separate Cover) 



